
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


Item # AGENDA 
 


1. Call to Order  
 


 NEW BUSINESS 
 


2. Communications  


a. Liquor License Compliance  
 


3. Approval of the October 28, 2020 and December 3, 2020 Public Safety Committee 


Minutes  
 


4. Discussion and possible action to approve a report to the Common Council regarding 


Alcohol Beverage License hearing for Shaker’s Saloon, LLC.,***The Public Safety 


Committee may convene in closed session pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.85(1)(a) for 


deliberations concerning a case which was the subject of a quasi-judicial hearing before 


the Public Safety Committee. The Public Safety may reconvene in an open session to 


discuss and take action on the subject matter discussed in closed session. *** 
 


5. Discussion and possible action regarding Law Enforcement Appreciation Day January 9, 


2021 
 


6. Discussion and possible action regarding approving an operator’s license for Nicholas 


Manhart  
 


7. Discussion and possible action regarding transferring a “Class A” Intoxicating Liquor 


and Class “A” Fermented Malt Beverage license issued to Marilyn J. Beckman d/b/a All 


Through the House from 160 E Main St. to 144 E Main St.  
 


8. Discussion and possible action regarding a Curbside Pick Up Plan for the City of 


Stoughton  
 


9. Adjournment 


      
cc.   Mayor Swadley, Department Heads, Council, Attorney Matt Dregne, Library Clerical Asst., 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA-AMENDED 
Notice is hereby given that the Public Safety Committee of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will 


hold a regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below. 


 Meeting of the: 
Date /Time: 
Location: 


Members: 


SPECIAL MEETING OF PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Wednesday, December 16, 2020 @ 5:30 p.m.  
The meeting of the Public Safety Committee will be conducted virtually due to COVID-
19. You can join the meeting from your computer, tablet, or smartphone: 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/537567613.  
 You can also dial in using your phone +1 (571) 317-3116 Access Code:  537-567-613 
Greg Jenson (Chair), Joyce Tikalsky, Jean Ligocki, Ozzie Doom and Tim Swadley (ex-officio) 
 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/537567613

tel:+15713173116,,537567613





Receptionists, Stoughton Newspapers/Wisc State Journal    *Note: An expanded meeting may constitute a 


quorum of the Council.  


 








1


Holly Licht


From: Greg Leck
Sent: Thursday, October 8, 2020 6:11 PM
To: Holly Licht
Cc: Greg Jenson
Subject: FW: Alcohol compliance


Holly, 
 
Please include the below email in the PSC packet for October and an agenda item called “Discussion regarding liquor 
license compliance check violations”.   
 
Gregory W. Leck 
Chief of Police  
Stoughton Police Department 
321 S. Fourth Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
608‐873‐3374 
gleck@ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 


From: Brandon Hill  
Sent: Sunday, September 27, 2020 5:23 PM 
To: Pat Conlin <pconlin@ci.stoughton.wi.us>; Greg Leck <GLeck@ci.stoughton.wi.us>; Teressa Pellett 
<tpellett.swc@gmail.com> 
Cc: Renee Taylor <reneetaylor.456@gmail.com>; Renee Taylor <RTaylor@skaalen.com> 
Subject: Alcohol compliance 
 
So I just got done conducting the alcohol compliance checks and results were not good. We checked 18 business’  and 8 
sold.  1 is questionable and I will be doing some more follow up.  
 
These business sold 
Shaker Saloon 
Stoughton Spirits 
Deaks 
BBG’s 
Walmart  (clerk had to override the computer as it wouldn’t accept the scanned ID) 
Kwik Trip Kettle Park.  (this is questionable as everyone agrees he scanned the id and it should have voided the sale, 
maybe he did something to override) 
La Cantina restaurant 
Viking Brew pub 
 
 
These DID NOT 
Kwik trip East 
Food pantry 
Kwik Trip Roby 
Aldis 
Pick And save 
Bowling alley 







2


Plaza liquor (they rang up the sale but denied it when another customer told the clerk not to sell as they saw the police 
in the lot) 
BP 
Kwik trip Monroe St. 
Lons tailgator 
 
Detective Brandon Hill 
Stoughton Police Dept 
321 S 4th St  
Stoughton Wi 53589 
(608)873‐3374 
 








PUBLIC SAFETY MINUTES 


October 28,2020 @ 6:00 p.m.  


GoToMeeting 


Present: 


Jenson, Ligocki, Doom, Tikalsky and Mayor Tim Swadley  


Also Present: 


Chief Leck, Jim Blouin, Ronnie McKittrick, Joseph Baird 


 


Discussion and possible action regarding special resolution supporting the police 


department  


Committee determined to have individual council members show appreciation to Police 


Department at their discretion 


Communications: 
Alder Jenson recognized 10-28-2020 as First Responders Day 


 


Approval of the September 23, 2020 Public Safety Committee Minutes 


Motion by Doom, second by Ligocki to approve the minutes. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Discussion and possible action regarding Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of 


Stoughton Municipal Code; by creating subsection (82) relating to No Parking Anytime on 


the west side of Hoel Avenue between Otteson and Odegard Drives.  


Motion by Doom, second by Tikalsky to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Discussion and possible action regarding suspending Ordinance 70-186; Downtown 2 Hour 


Parking Regulations, from November 30th 2020 to January 1st 2021 


Motion by Ligocki, second by Doom recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding snowmobile routes in the City right-of-ways  


Motion by Doom, second by Tikalsky to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Discussion and possible action regarding transferring a Class B Winery license issued to 


Mershonian Cidery, LLC from 108 Business Park Circle #7, to 124 W. Main St 


Motion by Jenson, second by Doom to recommend that council approve contingent on receiving 


premises description and November 26, 2020 effective date, subject to change as notified by 


Mershon’s to City Clerk, carried 5-0. 


Adjournment: 


Motion by Ligocki, second by Doom to adjourn at 6:40 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted, 


Tim Swadley, Mayor 








PUBLIC SAFETY MINUTES 


December 3, 2020 @ 6:00 p.m. 


GoToMeeting 


Present: 


Jenson, Ligocki, Doom, Tikalsky and Mayor Swadley 


Also Present: 


Police Chief Greg Leck, Clerk Licht, Attorney Manthe, Attorney Reuter, Detective Adams, 


office Covarrubias, Sergeant Frisch, Officer Johnson, Josh Quisling, Chatta Hoffman, Steve 


Meyer, and Bradley Dillman  


Call to Order:  


Jenson called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. He also noted that the committee will meet 


December 16th @ 5:30 p.m.  


HEARING: In the Matter of the Consideration of the Revocation of the Class B Reserve 


Combination License held by Shakers Saloon, LLC 


Motion by Jenson, second by Ligocki to turn chair duties over to Attorney Reuter for purposes of 


conducting the revocation hearing.  


Rick Manthe appeared on behalf of the complainant and the agent Chatta Hoffman was present 


for Shakers.  


Josh Quisling, on behalf of Shakers, asked the committee for postponement for more time to 


retrain an attorney. The committee declined the request for postponement.   


Mr. Manthe made an opening statement stated the safety risk for the community if Shakers 


license was not revoked.  


Josh Quisling made an opening statement on behalf of Shakers. He stated The Tavern League 


said that they could be open and they cannot control patron’s actions. He added that there was no 


way to determine that the patron was in the bar.  


Mr. Manthe called Detective Hill to the stand. He was sworn in.  Hill stated responded to the 


shooting and went Edgerton Hospital and later UW Hospital. He stated that the victim was 


positive for COVID-19. He interviewed the victim and the victim said he was at a party at the 


bar where he was shot in the parking lot.  Hill also said he assisted in an incident that involved 


Shakers last year. The former agent, Dale Kittelson was arrested on the premises for possession 


of cocaine and methamphetamine. He added that he also found what appeared to be a drug ledger 


in Mr. Kittelson’s truck.  


Mr. Manthe introduced exhibits 1-4 into the record.  


Mr. Manthe called Detective Adams to the stand. He was sworn in. Adams stated that he 


responded to the shooting on the early morning hours of October 10th.  He found several shell 


casings from 2 different hand guns.  He performed a search warrant on October 15th. There were 


approximately 10 cameras in the bar area. Exhibit 5 was entered into the record.  Exhibit 6 was 







entered into the record. Exhibit 7 was entered into the record.  Exhibit 8 was entered into the 


record. Exhibit 9 was entered into the record. 


Mr. Manthe called officer Hector Covarrubias to the stand. He was sworn in.  He testified that he 


performed a bar check shortly after midnight at Shakers Saloon on October 10th. The female 


bouncer did not let the police in. Eventually, they were given access to the premise. There 


appeared to be 100 people, 10% were wearing masks and no one was social distancing. He 


arrived back on scene after a call of shots fired around 2 a.m. 


Mr. Manthe called Sergeant Frisch to the stand. He was sworn in. Frisch stated that he talked to 


Chatta Hoffman and she wanted to relinquish the liquor license. She called back and said she 


was physically removed by one of the owners and could not take the license off the wall. He met 


her in the Shakers parking lot. He knocked and was not granted entry into the building.  He 


eventually called Bradley Dillman and he said that the cameras inside the building do not record.  


Mr. Manthe stated that ordinance 14-40 (g) allows inspection of the premise. 


Mr. Manthe called Paul Johnson to the stand.  He was sworn in. On February 23rd at 2:40 p.m. he 


was on patrol and noted that the open sign for Shakers Saloon was on. He observed bartenders 


serving patrons alcohol. He entered the bar and Bradley Dillman stated that the people drinking 


were employees. He issued a municipal citation for being open after hours.  


Exhibit 10 was entered into the record. 


The committee recessed at 7:55 for ten minutes.  


The committee reconvened the hearing at 8:06 p.m.  


Mr. Quisling called Steve Meyer to the stand. He was sworn in.  Mr. Meyer stated that no 


altercations happened in the bar. He said they have a wand and check patrons as the enter; no 


weapons were in the bar. He stated that there were 69 patrons and 6 staff members in the 


building.  Mr. Meyer stated that there have been no complaints about the bar to his knowledge.  


Mr. Manthe provided closing statements. He stated that Shakers poses a significant risk to the 


community by allowing patrons that resulted in a shoot-out in the parking lot and a COVID-19 


super spreader event.  


Mr. Quisling stated that the shooting did not happen in the bar and the bar is not responsible for 


patrons after they exit the bar. He added that Mr. Kittleson has been eliminated from the bar and 


that is no longer an issue. 


The hearing was closed at 8:36 p.m.  


CLOSED SESSION: Enter into closed session pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.85(1)(a) for 


deliberations concerning a case which was the subject of a quasi-judicial hearing before the 


Public Safety Committee.  The Public Safety Committee will conduct deliberations 


concerning the Matter of the Consideration of the Revocation of the Class B Reserve 


Combination License held by Shakers Saloon, LLC. 







Motion by Jenson, second by Doom to go into closed session pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.85(1)(a) 


for deliberations concerning a case which was the subject of a quasi-judicial hearing before the 


Public Safety Committee.  The Public Safety Committee will conduct deliberations concerning 


the Matter of the Consideration of the Revocation of the Class B Reserve Combination License 


held by Shakers Saloon, LLC at 8: 39 p.m.  Motion carried 5-0.  


 


RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION:  Issue a determination or take other appropriate 


action in regards to the Class B Reserve Combination License held by Shakers Saloon, 


LLC.  


Motion by Tikalsky, second by Doom to go into open session at 9:15 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 


Chair Jenson stated that committee made a recommendation for the City Council to revoke the 


license.   


Adjournment: 


Motion by Doom, second by Ligocki to adjourn at 9:24 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


 


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


 


 








Page 1 of 10 
 


STATE OF WISCONSIN  CITY OF STOUGHTON  DANE COUNTY 
 
 
In the Matter of the Consideration  
of the Revocation of the Class B 
Reserve Combination License Held by  
 
SHAKER’S SALOON, LLC 


REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF 
THE STOUGHTON PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 


 


 A hearing was held before the City of Stoughton Public Safety Committee on December 
3, 2020 on the complaint of Stoughton Police Chief Greg Leck filed in the above-captioned matter 
on October 22, 2020.  The Complainant appeared by Attorney Richard Manthe.  The Licensee was 
represented at the hearing by Chatta Huffman, its agent, Bradley Dillman, its manager and Steve 
Meyer, the sole member of Shaker’s Saloon, LLC (hereinafter “Shaker’s” or “the Licensee”).  The 
Committee heard testimony from all witnesses proffered by both parties, and received Exhibits 1-
10 into the record. 
 
 The Complaint alleges that Shaker’s Saloon, LLC  violated §125.12(2)(ag)2 of the 
Wisconsin Statutes and identical provisions contained in §§14-31(1)b. of the City of Stoughton 
Municipal Code.  Those provisions effectively prohibit the licensee from maintaining a “disorderly 
or riotous, indecent or improper house.”  The Complaint includes allegations of 6 separate 
incidents which the Complainant asserts constitute a violation of the “disorderly house” statute.  
Briefly summarized, those allegations are: 
 
 1.   On October 10, 2020, a patron attending a party at Shaker’s was involved in an 
argument and was shot 6 times in the Shaker’s parking lot. 
 
 2.  On December 18, 2019, Shaker’s knowingly allowed its license agent to possess, with 
intent to deliver, quantities of controlled substances consisting of cocaine and methamphetamine 
on the licensed premises.   
 
 3.  On February 22, 2020, Shaker’s allowed the consumption of alcohol beverages inside 
the bar at approximately 2:40 a.m. which was after the legally required closing time. 
 
 4.  On October 10, 2020, Shaker’s staff refused entry by police officers for a bar check in 
violation of §14-40(g) of the Stoughton Municipal Code. 
 
 5.  On October 10, 2020, Shaker’s had approximately 100-150 people on the licensed 
premises who were generally not following social distancing recommendations and only 
approximately 10% of whom were wearing face coverings, in violation of Wisconsin Department 







Page 2 of 10 
 


of Health Services (WDHS) Order No. 3 and Public Health of Madison and Dane County 
(PHMDC) Emergency Order No 9. 
 
 6.  On October 11, 2020, the manager of Shaker’s refused entry to a police officer in 
violation of §14-40(g) of the Stoughton Municipal Code. 
 
 Five officers of the Stoughton Police Department testified on behalf of the Complainant.  
The Licensee presented testimony from Steve Meyer, the sole member of Shaker’s Saloon, LLC.   
 
 Exhibits offered and received during the hearing consisted of: 
 


• Exhibit 1: Amusement Device and “Class B” Reserve Liquor & Beer License issued to 
Shaker’s on June 25, 2020. 
 


• Exhibit 2: Shaker’s Alcohol Beverage License Application and Agent Appointment dated 
May 4, 2020, Auxiliary Questionnaire and General License Application. 
 


• Exhibit 3: PHMDC Emergency Order #9 Amendment 
 


• Exhibit 4: WDHS Emergency Order #3 dated October 6, 2020. 
  


• Exhibit 5: Security Camera Photo ID3530. 
 


• Exhibit 6: Security Camera Photo ID3531. 
 


• Exhibit 7: Security Camera Photo ID3542. 
 


• Exhibit 8: Security Camera Photo ID3528. 
•  
• Exhibit 9: Security Camera Photo ID3530. 


 
• Exhibit 10: Minutes of April 14, 2020 Stoughton Common Council meeting. 


 
 All oral testimony offered by witnesses and all exhibits offered were received by the 
Committee without objection by either party. 
 
 Based upon the evidence and arguments presented by the parties, the Committee makes the 
following Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation for action by the Common 
Council: 
 


FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. The City of Stoughton issued Shaker’s a combination Class B liquor license on June 25, 2020 


for the 2020-2021 licensing year. That license is currently in effect. (Exhibit 1) 
 







Page 3 of 10 
 


2. The licensed premises consist of property located at 111 Chalet Drive, Stoughton, WI 53589. 
(Exhibit 1 & 2) 


 
3. On the evening of October 9 and into the early morning hours of October 10, 2020, Shaker’s 


hosted a birthday party on the licensed premises. 
 
4. A patron attending the party at Shaker’s was shot 6-8 times in the Shaker’s parking lot at 


approximately the time the bar was closing.  The shooting victim was infected with the 
COVID19 virus at the time of the party and shooting. 


 
5. The shooting involved at least two separate firearms, and 14 shell casings were found at the 


scene.  A stray bullet struck a parked car, and another was lodged in the wall of a neighboring 
hotel. 


 
6. The victim of the shooting was highly intoxicated at the time. 
 
7. On December 18, 2019 Detective Brandon Hill of the Stoughton Police Department 


participated with agents from the DEA in the arrest of Dale Kittleson for previous deliveries 
of cocaine in a “controlled buy” involving DEA agents. Officers arrested Kittleson while he 
was in the bar area of Shaker’s. 


 
5. Officers searched Kittleson upon his arrest and the Shaker’s licensed premises shortly 


thereafter.  Law enforcement discovered approximately one total ounce of cocaine on Mr. 
Kittleson’s person, another ½ to ¾ ounce in another location on the premises, 
methamphetamine and a drug ledger in Mr. Kittleson’s truck. 


  
6.   The quantity of drugs and the drug ledger 6.demonstrate that the drugs were possessed by 


Kittleson for the purpose of sale and not for personal use.   
 
7.  Shaker’s is a limited liability company and was required to appoint an agent for alcohol 


beverage licensing purposes.    
 
8.   At the time of his arrest, Kittleson was the agent of Shaker’s. 
 
9.   On February 22, 2020, Shaker’s allowed four individuals sitting at its bar to consume beer at 


approximately 2:40 a.m. which was after the legally required closing time. 
 
10.   On October 10, 2020, two individuals at the entrance of Shaker’s refused entry by police 


officers who were attempting to conduct a bar check.   
 
11. On October 10, 2020, Shaker’s had at least 69 individuals on the licensed premises who were 


generally not following social distancing recommendations and only approximately 10% of 
whom were wearing face coverings. 


 
12.  Many of the employees of Shaker’s working on the evening of October 9 and the early morning 


of October 10, 2020 were not properly wearing face coverings. 







Page 4 of 10 
 


 
13. On October 10, 2020, Chatta Huffman, Shaker’s current agent, was physically removed from 


the licensed premises by one of the “owners” of the business. 
 
14.  Later that same day, the bar manager, Bradley Dillman, refused to answer the door of the 


licensed premises when Stoughton police attempted to make contact with him.  
 


CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 


The Committee makes the following conclusions of law based on the foregoing factual findings: 
 


1. Clear and convincing evidence has been presented that on December 18, 2019, Kittleson 
possessed controlled substances with intent to deliver those substances in violation of 
§961.41, Wis. Stats. 
 


2. Because Kittleson was Shaker’s agent, Shaker’s is responsible for his actions involving the 
licensed premises. 
 


3. Possession of controlled substances on the licensed premises was a matter related to 
Shaker’s business as it is one of the activities the Licensee is obligated to prevent. 
 


4. Section 14-40(h) of the Stoughton Municipal Code allows employees performing job-
related functions to remain on the licensed premises after closing, but prohibits their 
consumption of alcohol beverages during that time. 
 


5. On February 22, 2020, Shaker’s was required to close its business at 2:30 a.m. per 
§125.32(3), Wis. Stats. 
 


6. Shaker’s violated Section 14-40(h) of the Stoughton Municipal Cde by allowing four 
employees to consume bear at the bar of the licensed premises on February 22, 2020 at 
approximately 2:40 a.m. 
 


7. PHMDC Emergency Order #9 was issued on September 1, 2020, took effect on September 
2, 2020 and remains in effect. 
 


8. Section 2(a) of PHMDC Order #9 requires that every individual age five (5) or older wear 
a face covering whenever in an enclosed building where people other than the individual’s 
own living unit are present. 
 


9. Section 3 of PHMDC Order #9 also prohibits “mass gatherings” of greater than 10 
individuals, excluding employees at any indoor location, and requires physical distancing.  
A “mass gathering” is defined by the order as “a planned event with a large number of 
individuals in attendance, such as a concert, festival, meeting, training, conference, 
performance, show, or sporting event.”   
 







Page 5 of 10 
 


10. Section 5(d) of PHMDC Order #9 requires all businesses to develop and implement a 
written protective measure policy that includes “ensuring individuals are at least six (6) 
feet from others whenever possible” and “ensuring employees are provided with and wear 
face coverings at all times when required under section 2” of the Order. 
 


11. Section 6(b)(v) of PHMDC Order #9 provides that “customers may enter taverns only for 
the purpose of ordering, pick-up, and payment of food or beverage or while in transit.” 
 


12. WDHS Order #3 was issued on October 6, 2020 and took effect on October 8, 2020.  Order 
#3, by its terms, remained in effect until November 6, 2020.   
 


13. Section 2(a) of WDHS Order #3 limited public gatherings to no more than 25% of the total 
occupancy limit for the room or building established by the local municipality. 
 


14. The birthday party and related gatherings at Shaker’s on October 9-10 of 2020 constituted 
a public gathering under WDHS Order #3. 
 


15. The totality of the violations of legal requirements at Shaker’s Saloon between October 18, 
2019 and October 10, 2020 demonstrate that Shaker’s is maintaining a “disorderly house” 
within the meaning of §125.12(2)(ag)2, Wis. Stats. and constitute grounds for revocation 
or suspension of Shaker’s alcohol beverage licenses. 
   


DISCUSSION  
 


The Committee determines that the Complainant has met its burden of proof with regard to several 
of the incidents alleged in the Complaint, as discussed more fully below.  Based on those events, 
the Committee recommends that the Common Council accept the Committee’s determination that 
Shaker’s has operated a disorderly house, and that its combination “Class B” alcohol beverage 
license be REVOKED. 
 
 1.  The meaning of “Disorderly House.”  
 
 Section 125.12(4)(ag)2 of the Wisconsin Statutes provides for the revocation or suspension 
of an alcohol beverage license if the licensed premises are maintained as a “disorderly or riotous, 
indecent or improper house.”  The term “disorderly house” has been defined by the Wisconsin 
Supreme Court as follows: 
 


A house the inmates of which behave so badly as to become a nuisance to the 
neighborhood is esteemed, at common law, a disorderly house, and so of one which 
is kept in such a way as to disturb or scandalize the public generally, or the 
inhabitants of a particular neighborhood, or the passers-by. 


 
Hawkins v. Lutton, 95 Wis. 492 (1887). The Committee has applied this definition in making its 
findings and recommendations. 
 







Page 6 of 10 
 


 A “disorderly house” can be found based on a single incident.  In City of Cudahy v. DeLuca, 
49 Wis. 2d 90, 181 N.W.2d 374 (1970), the defendants were convicted of keeping or maintaining 
a “disorderly house, house of ill fame” for allowing their patrons to show pornographic films and 
watch “go go girls” dance nude in their tavern.  The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the single 
incident charged was sufficient to support a finding that the defendants maintained a “disorderly 
house.”   
 
 In a more recent case, a federal district court upheld the validity of §125.12(2)(ag)2 against 
a challenge by a licensee that the “disorderly house” provision was unconstitutionally vague.  
Hegwood v. City of Eau Claire, 2011 WL 13187125 (W.D. Wis. 2011); affd. Hegwood v. City of 
Eau Claire, 676 F.3d 600, 602 (7th Cir. 2012).  In that case, the court held that “disorderly house” 
can be defined with reference to Wisconsin’s disorderly conduct statute as “one in or around acts 
which occur that are ‘violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or 
otherwise disorderly.”  Id. at ¶9.  Both the District Court and Court of Appeals found the numerous 
bar fights, obstructions of police and overserving involved in that case to fit squarely within the 
definition of a “disorderly house.” 
 
 These cases demonstrate that, while “disorderly house” cannot be reduced to a definition 
requiring only the application of a simple formula, the common theme is that the acts occurring on 
around the licensed premises are of sufficient frequency, and have an actual negative effect on the 
neighborhood, such that they have become a nuisance.   
 
 2.  Incidents Establishing a “Disorderly House.” 
 
 A.  Possession on the Licensed Premises of Controlled Substances with Intent to 
Deliver. 
 
 The evidence presented at the hearing established that Kittleson was arrested in possession 
of approximately 2½ - 3 ounces of cocaine.  His truck at the time contained a notebook with names, 
weights and dollar amounts which Det. Hill testified was of the type used by drug dealers in 
tracking orders for illicit drugs.  The arrest itself occurred as a result of an early sale of illegal 
drugs by Kittleson as part of a “controlled buy” organized by the DEA.  Det. Hill testified that 2½ 
ounces of cocaine is significantly more than what would be possessed by an individual user, and 
indicated that the drugs were held for sale.  The Committee found Det. Hill’s testimony credible, 
as he was involved in the arrest and either directly observed the facts surrounding the arrest, or 
received the information from other law enforcement officers as part of their cooperative law 
enforcement efforts. No evidence was offered that called into question the accuracy of Det. Hill’s 
testimony, and the Committee finds the incident occurred as alleged.   
 
 The drug possession incident involving Sharker’s license agent was the subject of a prior 
hearing held by the Committee on February 13 and 26, 2020.  Based on the evidence presented at 
that hearing, the Committee found that grounds for disciplinary action existed under 
§125.12(2)(ag)6, Wis. Stats., which applies where “The person (licensee) knowingly allows 
another person, who is on the premises for which the license under this chapter is issued, to possess, 
with the intent to manufacture, distribute or deliver, or to manufacture, distribute or deliver a 
controlled substance or controlled substance analog.”  The Committee recommended revocation 







Page 7 of 10 
 


of Shaker’s license at that time.  The Common Council, however, opted to give Shaker’s a second 
chance, imposing a 48-day suspension instead. 
 
 The Committee at that time also determined that the single drug-related incident on the 
premises, despite its seriousness, was not enough by itself to classify Shaker’s as a “disorderly 
house” under §12512(2)(ag)2, Wis. Stats. The Committee nevertheless considers it relevant to the 
analysis of the “disorderly house” standard as applied to the overall operation of the licensed 
premises. 
 
 B.  The October 10, 2020 Shooting Incident.   
 
 Shaker’s does not dispute that the shooting incident in its parking lot occurred.  Nor did it 
present any evidence to refute the testimony that the shooting victim was attending the party hosted 
at Shaker’s for at least 2-3 hours.  The undisputed testimony also established that the victim was 
extremely intoxicated when he was later shot outside the bar.   
 
 Shaker’s argued at the hearing that it cannot be responsible for what happens outside its 
building.  The Complainant disagreed, arguing that activities outside of a bar are relevant to 
whether a “disorderly house” is being maintained.  
 
 In State ex rel. Ruffalo v. Common Council of City of Kenosha, 38 Wis. 2d 518, 157 N.W.2d 
568 (1968), a licensee challenged the nonrenewal of his liquor license which was based in part on 
disturbances that occurred in the street outside the bar.  The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that 
the common council was within its discretion in considering those incidents in acting on the 
renewal application.1 
 
 In the more recent case of Smith v. City of Milwaukee, 2014 WI APP 95, 356 Wis. 2d 779, 
854 N.W.2d 857, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals upheld the city’s refusal to renew a liquor license 
based on a number of incidents, including a shooting of a patron in the parking lot after leaving 
the bar.  The court noted that, under the Ruffalo decision, the behavior of patrons after they leave 
a tavern can be considered in municipal licensing decisions. 
 
 The testimony at the hearing was that the shooting victim was inside Shakers for 2-3 hours 
or more, and was extremely intoxicated when he left.  While Shaker’s is not solely responsible for 
the incident, the Committee is satisfied that it played a role in creating the circumstances leading 
to the event. 
 
 C.  Refusal of Entry to Police Officers.   
 
 The Complainant alleged two instances where Shaker’s is said to have refused entry to a 
police officer, in violation of Section 14.40(g) of the Stoughton municipal code.  Officer 
Covarrubias testified that in the early morning of October 10, 2020, he attempted a “bar check” at 


 
1  The statutes have been amended since Ruffalo was decided to afford licensees the same due process rights on renewal 
as in revocation proceedings.  Ruffalo also involved a non-renewal which, at the time, was treated like an initial 
application, rather than a revocation.  Nevertheless, the recognition by the Supreme Court that a municipality may 
consider activities outside the physical limits of the licensed premises remains persuasive. 







Page 8 of 10 
 


Shaker’s and was told he could not enter the premises.  While he thought one of them was a 
“bouncer,” Shaker’s argued (but did not present evidence) that they were merely patrons.   
 
Shaker’s presented testimony that it had a security person at the door maintaining a head count, as 
it believed it was legally limited to 69 patrons in the bar at any time.  The testimony of several 
witnesses, along with security footage clearly established that Shaker’s was very busy that night.  
The Committee finds it incredible that two patrons would have both the motivation and the 
opportunity to deny entry to a police officer at the door of the bar.   
 
 Shortly after the officer was denied entry, Mr. Dillman, Shaker’s manager, came to the 
door and allowed the officers in.  Nevertheless, it appears from the evidence that Shaker’s security 
employees were not adequately trained or experienced to understand that police officers have a 
right to inspect licensed establishments. 
 
 The second incident occurred later in the day on October 10, 2020 when Sgt. Frisch went 
to the bar to assist Shaker’s license agent in her attempt to retrieve the liquor license from the 
premises.  Sgt. Frisch knocked loudly on the locked door, but Mr. Dillman, who was inside, refused 
to answer the door.  It appears from the evidence that Shaker’s was not open at the time.  The 
Committee does not interpret the City Ordinance to apply during times when the licensed premises 
are not open for business, and therefore does not find a violation of the ordinance.  See, Float-Rite 
Park, Inc. v. Village of Somerset, 2001 WI APP 113, 224 Wis. 2d 34, 629 N.W.2d 818.  The 
Committee also does not find this incident to be indicative of a disorderly house. 
 
D.   Violations of Public Health Orders.  
 
 It is undisputed that Shaker’s hosted a party on October 10, 2020.  Mr. Steve Meyer, 
Shaker’s sole member, testified that 69 people were allowed in the bar at any one time, and all 
others were required to remain in the parking lot.  Officer Covarrubias estimated that  about 100 
people were inside the bar, only about 10% of whom were wearing face coverings.   
 
 Mr. Meyer provided the only testimony on behalf of Shaker’s.  He testified that Shaker’s 
employed security, provided its employees with masks, and that all employees wore masks while 
working.  He also said they make sure all patrons have masks.  He further testified that he 
monitored public health orders and he made sure that Mr. Dillman kept up with “rigorous 
standards” for patron health Mr. Meyer imposed.   
 
 The Committee did not find Mr. Meyer’s testimony regarding the events of October 10, 
2020 to be credible for two reasons.  First, Mr. Meyer admitted that he was not present at Shaker’s 
at all on October 9 or 10.  Whatever his testimony about Shaker’s general policies or operations, 
he could not possibly know what was done on October 10, 2020.  Secondly, the evidence clearly 
contradicted Mr. Meyer’s statements.  Testimony was presented that only about 10% of the people 
in the bar were wearing masks.  Exhibits 5-9 visually depict employees and customers not wearing 
masks or maintaining physical distancing.  The absence of mask violated §2(a) of the Dane County 
Health Order, which required face coverings on all patrons and employees.  [See, Exhibit 3]. 
 







Page 9 of 10 
 


 The October 10 event also violated the PHMDC order because it was an indoor “mass 
gathering” with more than 10 attendees.  Shaker’s also failed to adopt policies sufficient to assure 
that patrons and employees wore masks and maintained 6 feet of physical separation as required 
by §5(d) of Order #9.  Finally, by its own admission, Shaker’s violated §6(b)(v) of Order #9, which 
provides that  “customers may enter taverns only for the purpose of ordering, pick-up, and payment 
of food or beverage or while in transit.”  As the Complainant correctly noted, this provision 
prohibited all customers from drinking in the licensed establishment on October 10, 2020. 
 
 E.  After Hours Service. 
 
 Uncontroverted evidence at the hearing established that on February 22, 2020, Mr. 
Dillman, Shaker’s manager, allowed 4 individuals to drink beer at the bar at 2:40 a.m.  Section 
125.32(3), Wis. Stats. prohibited Shaker’s from being open after 2:30 a.m. Section 14-40(h) of the 
Stoughton Municipal Code allows employees performing job-related functions to remain on the 
licensed premises after closing, but prohibits their consumption of alcohol beverages during that 
time.  Therefore, it was unlawful for anyone to be drinking beer at Shaker’s at the time of this 
incident. 
 


RECOMMENDATION 
 


 In determining the appropriate sanction for the violation proven, the Committee is 
primarily concerned with the protection of the public.  Earlier this year, Shaker’s was facing a 
recommendation from this Committee for revocation of its license.  All parties involved 
recognized that it was a severe sanction, but the Committee was concerned that Shaker’s had not 
shown the motivation to put in the effort necessary to learn and comply with legal requirements 
applicable to tavern operations.  The Common Council imposed a 48-day license suspension 
instead.   
 
 It is abundantly clear to the Committee that Shaker’s fails to comprehend its obligation to 
comply with the law.  The most obvious example is the fact that it has continued operating more 
than a month2 after the PHMDC Order #9 took effect, prohibiting any customers indoors.  On 
October 10 none of the incidents that occurred should have happened, because Shaker’s should 
not have been open for regular business.   
 
 Instead, an indoor event lasting several hours involving anywhere from 69-100 people, 
most of whom were not wearing face coverings or maintaining physical distancing, took place at 
Shakers.  That event created a significant opportunity for the transmission of COVID19.  The 
likelihood of a “superspreader” event became more acute when the shooting victim tested positive 
for the virus after spending hours inside with the crowd.   
 
 While not alleged as separate violations in the Complaint, the hearing testimony disclosed 
other conduct which convinces the Committee that Shaker’s is unlikely to right its ship.  While 
Shaker’s claims to support law enforcement and public safety, its manager falsely told Sgt. Frisch 
who was investigating the shooting that Shaker’s security cameras were closed circuit and did not 


 
2  PHMDC Order #9 went into effect on September 2, 2020.  The evidence presented at the hearing did not establish 
whether Shaker’s has continued operating after October 10. 







Page 10 of 10 
 


have recording capabilities.  Yet forensic technicians were able to recover recordings on the system 
after it was seized in a search warrant. 
 
 In addition, while Chatta Huffman is now the license agent for Shaker’s, and has the 
responsibility for all activities the licensed premise, she appears to be little more than a figurehead.  
She was upset upon learning of the shooting because she had opposed the tavern being open given 
her COVID concerns.3  On October 10, when she attempted to retrieve the liquor license from 
Shaker’s, she was physically removed from the licensed premises by Shaker’s employees.  She 
appears to have been given the responsibility of an agent, but none of the authority necessary to 
exercise that responsibility.  
 
 Section 125.04(6)(a)2, Wis. Stats. provides that an alcohol beverage license may not be 
issued to a limited liability company unless:  
 


The entity vests in the agent, by properly authorized and executed written 
delegation, full authority and control of the premises described in the license or 
permit of the entity, and of the conduct of all business on the premises relative to 
alcohol beverages, that the licensee or permittee could have and exercise if it were 
a natural person. 


  
Implicit in that requirement is that the entity does not then physically prevent the agent from 
exercising any of those duties.  Shaker’s said what it had to say to get a license, then effectively 
ignored its obligations.  In short, Shaker’s appears either unable or unwilling to operate in 
accordance with applicable laws, ordinances and community standards.  
 
 Finally, Det. Adams testified that the individual whose birthday was being celebrated was 
being served 32 “shots.”  That example, coupled with the testimony that the shooting victim was 
very intoxicated raises serious concerns about overserving of patrons.   Overserving may well have 
led to the shooting on October 10, and will likely lead to further disturbances if allowed to 
continue. 
 
 Having determined that Shaker’s has been maintaining a disorderly house, the Committee’s 
options for recommended actions are limited to suspension or revocation.  §125.12(2)(b)2, Wis. 
Stats.   In light of the concerns expressed above, the Committee recommends that the combination 
Class B alcohol beverage license of Shaker’s Saloon, LLC be REVOKED.   
 
 Respectfully submitted this 16th day of December, 2020. 
 
      CITY OF STOUGHTON  
      PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
 Greg Jenson, Chairperson  


 
3  It was not clear from the evidence presented whether Ms. Huffman simply considered the gathering a bad idea, or 
whether she and others involved were aware it was legally prohibited by PHMDC Order #9. 








      


     CITY OF STOUGHTON 
     CLERK’S OFFICE 
     207 South Forrest Street 
     Stoughton, Wisconsin 53589 
     (608) 873-6677 
 
December 7, 2020        


 


Nicholas Manhart 


 


 


 


 


Dear Mr. Manhart, 


 


This letter is to inform you that your application for a City of Stoughton Operator’s License has been 


denied by the Chief of Police. You are able to appear before the Public Safety Committee when they 


discuss this issue. Failure to appear will result in an automatic denial of your application. 


The meeting date of the Public Safety Committee will be held virtually on Wednesday, December 


16, 2020 5:30 PM – 6:30 PM.  


Please join my meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone.  


https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/537567613 


 


You can also dial in using your phone.  


United States (Toll Free): 1 866 899 4679  


United States: +1 (571) 317-3116  


Access Code: 537-567-613  


New to GoToMeeting? Get the app now and be ready when your first meeting starts:  


https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/537567613 
 


**Applicant was called on Monday, December 7, 2020 at 09:45 a.m. by the Deputy Clerk and informed 


(LMOM) of the meeting. 


 Please feel free to call 608-873-6677 should you have any questions. 


Thank you, 


 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/537567613

tel:+18668994679,,194210525

tel:+15713173116,,194210525

https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/537567613







































		Manhart, Nicholas denial.docx

		scan0014



















Curbside   Pickup   for   Downtown   Stoughton   
Plan   for   the   City   of   Stoughton   Public   Safety   Committee   


Summary   
The   extension   of   time   limits   for   holiday   parking   downtown   was   discussed   and   recommended   forward   to   the   
City   Council   on   October   28,   2020,   by   the   Public   Safety   Committee.   Council   approval   followed   November   10,   
2020   (R-171-2020).   


Downtown   businesses   and   customers   would   benefit   from   a   reserved   curbside   pickup   space   similar   to   those   at   
other   business   areas   in   Stoughton.   Curbside   pickup   is   free,   fast,   and   convenient,   and   reduces   the   risk   of   close   
contact   between   business   employees   and   customers   during   the   pandemic.   


This   plan   introduces   logistics   for   a   reserved   curbside   pickup   space   downtown,   beginning   with   a   single   marked   
space   as   a   pilot   project   to   gauge   interest.   The   priority   step   is   feedback   from   downtown   businesses   and   
customers.   


Location   options   
Convenient   curbside   pickup   spots   for   a   pilot   project   are   located   just   off   Highway   51/Main   Street   for   downtown   
businesses   near   Forrest   and   Main.   


Project   plan   
Point   person,   for   monitoring   the   project   and   schedule:    Please   advise.   Small   team   project?   Staff?   
Individuals?     
Interviews   with   downtown   businesses   and   customers:    Please   advise.   Alders?   Stoughton   Chamber   of   
Commerce?   I   would   be   willing   to   help.   
Schedule:    Pilot   project   during   the   holiday   season,   2020.   
Track   usage:    Check   whether   practical   methods   are   available.   
Related   projects   


❏ Simple   signage:   "Reserved   for   curbside   pickup."   


Last   updated   11/12/2020.   Created   10/30/2020   —    1   


West   side   of   Forrest   Street,   just   south   of   Main   Southwest   corner   of   the   City   Hall   parking   lot   
Pedestrian   crossing   to   the   south   protects   access.   







❏ Street   marking,   if   needed   
❏ Enforcement   approach   
❏ Maintenance   


Cost:    To   be   defined.   
Fees :   None   
Related   to:    Public   Works   Committee   and   City   of   Stoughton   departments   
City   of   Stoughton   promotion:   


❏ City   of   Stoughton   Facebook   page   
❏ Tower   Times   
❏ Stoughton   Courier   Hub    press   release   
❏ Stoughton   Chamber   of   Commerce   website   
❏ Other:   _________________   


Oversight:    City   Council,   Public   Safety   Committee,   Plan   Commission,   city   staff:   ____________________   
Pilot   project   start   date,   following   City   Council   approval:   Friday,   December   11   


● Note:   November   26   is   Thanksgiving.   
● November   28   is   "Shop   Small   Saturday,"   sponsored   by   the   Stoughton   Chamber   of   Commerce.   


Pilot   project   tentative   end   date:   January   12   
Review   for   continuation   after   the   holidays:    City   Council,   Public   Safety   Committee,   city   staff,   downtown   
businesses,   customer   feedback   
Continuation   begins:   January   13   or   as   soon   as   practical   
Continuation   review:   After   six   months   and   one   year   


Next   steps   


Last   updated   11/12/2020.   Created   10/30/2020   —    2   


Task    By    Target   deadline    Done?   


Send   the   draft   plan   to   Alder   Greg   Jenson,   Chair   of   the   Public   
Safety   Committee   for   review.   


Joyce   Tikalsky   ASAP    DONE   


Review   the   draft   plan   to   check   for   clarity,   completeness,   and   
suitability   for   the   Public   Safety   Committee   meeting   agenda   for   
Nov.   25.   


Greg   Jenson    November   24,   2020      


Engineering/technical   and   other   city   staff   review   for   
implementation,   lead   times   for   materials,   and   schedule.   


[Names]    November   24,   2020      


Vote   to   recommend   the   project   to   the   City   Council   for   the   
agenda,   further   discussion,   and   possible   action   at   the   Dec.   8   City   
Council   meeting.   


Public   Safety   
Committee   


November   25,   2020      


Update   the   plan   and   schedule   if   needed.    Joyce   Tikalsky   November   25,   2020      


Submit   to   the   City   Clerk   for   the   City   Council   agenda   for   Dec.   8.           


City   Council   vote      Tuesday,   December   8      


Implement   the   plan.      Friday,   December   11      


Review   the   plan   for   additional   input,   plan   changes,   and   
continuation   of   the   pilot   program.   


  Tuesday,   January   12,   
City   Council   Meeting   


  







  
Draft   document   last   revised   November   12,   2020,   by   Joyce   Tikalsky.   Created   October   30,   2020.   
Contact   information:    jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us ,   608-205-8158   (Google   Voice   volunteer   phone   number)   


Related   
Holiday   parking   action,   Public   Safety   Committee,   October   29,   2020,   and   City   Council,   November   10,   2020.   
  


Downtown   Parking,   
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/15028868 
19408/Parking+PPT.pdf   


Reference   


         
  


Last   updated   11/12/2020.   Created   10/30/2020   —    3   



mailto:jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/1502886819408/Parking+PPT.pdf

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/1502886819408/Parking+PPT.pdf



